**Docket Number 66528** 

In the

# SUPREME COURT

*For the* 

# STATE OF NEVADA

# **GARY SCHMIDT**

Appellant,

v.

## **BEN KIECKHEFER**

Respondent

Appeal from a Decision of the Second Judicial District of the State of Nevada, Washoe County, Court Case No. CV14-01227

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

Charles R. Kozak, Esq. Nevada State Bar #11179 3100 Mill Street, Suite 115 Reno, Nevada 89502 (775) 322-1239 chuck@kozaklawfirm.com *Attorney for the Appellant* 

Electronically Filed Jan 20 2015 10:33 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

# CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

#### I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Schmidt submits the following NRAP 28(A)(4) statement of jurisdiction. The Second Judicial District of the State of Nevada Court, Washoe County, (the "District Court") had personal jurisdiction over the parties pursuant to NRS 14.065. Both Schmidt and the appellee, BEN KIECKHEFER ("Kieckhefer"), are Nevada residents who were Republican opponents in the June 10, 2014 primary election. As this matter raises constitutional issues, the District Court had subject matter jurisdiction over the action under Article 6, Section 6 of the Nevada Constitution.

Schmidt seeks review of the District Court's order denying Schmidt's NRS 41.660 Special Motion to Dismiss. NRS 41.670(4) provides for interlocutory appeal from the order, which entered on September 5, 2014. This appeal is timely because Schmidt filed his Notice of Appeal on September 12, 2014, which was within 30 days of service of notice of entry of the order. NRAP 4(a)(1).

#### **II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

Did the District Court err in granting Kieckhefer's temporary restraining order ("TRO")?

Specifically, did the lower court err in finding Kieckhefer likely to suffer irreparable injury to his career and reputation from statements in television advertisements that he "endorsed and supported Harry Reid in 2010"?

Did the lower court fail to apply strict scrutiny to the Constitutional issue of the TRO's function as a prior restraint on free speech?

Did the District Court err in denying Schmidt's NRS 41.660 Special Motion to Dismiss?

Specifically, did the lower court err in finding there was clear and convincing evidence that Kieckhefer had a "probability of showing" that the statement regarding his endorsement and support of Harry Reid was false?

Did the lower court err in finding that Kieckhefer had a "probability of showing" the statement was defamatory because it "could be harmful to the reputation of a Republican politician"?

Did the lower court err in finding that Kieckhefer had a "probability of establishing damages and/or prevailing on the defamation per se claim"?

Did the lower court err in finding Kieckhefer had a "probability of showing that Schmidt's statements were made with knowledge of or reckless disregard for their falsity"?

#### III. REVIEWABILITY AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Special motions to dismiss, like motions for summary judgment, are reviewed *de novo*. *John v. Douglas County Sch. Dist.*, 125 Nev. 746, 753-754, 219 P.3d 1276, 1281-1282 (2009). "Pursuant to NRS 41.660(3)-(4), the district court shall treat the special motion to dismiss as a motion for summary judgment, and its granting the motion is an adjudication upon the merits." *Id.* The appellate court reviews the issues "without deference to the findings of the lower court." *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005).

"Since the special motion to dismiss is procedurally treated as a summary judgment, the following standards apply. First, the district court can only grant the special motion to dismiss if there is no genuine issue of material fact and 'the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law'...Second, the nonmoving party cannot overcome the special motion to dismiss 'on the gossamer threads of whimsy, speculation and conjecture." *John v. Douglas County Sch. Dist.*, 125 Nev. 746, 753-754, 219 P.3d 1276, 1281-1282 (2009) (internal quotations omitted). The "nonmoving party must provide more than general allegations and conclusions; it must submit specific factual evidence" that demonstrates a genuine issue of fact. *Id*.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Schmidt and Kieckhefer were political opponents running for State Senate in the 2014 primary election. On June 6, 2014, Kieckhefer initiated a SLAPP suit by filing a Complaint and Ex Parte application for a TRO. The Complaint alleged Defamation and sought a TRO based on a statement Schmidt made in a political television advertisement that Kieckhefer "endorsed and supported Harry Reid in 2010." (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 2 at p. 000005.)

The District Court entered its order granting the TRO, finding that Kieckhefer was "likely to suffer irreparable injury to his career and reputation from [the] television advertisements," and ordered that the ads be withdrawn.

(Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 14 at p. 000042.)

Schmidt subsequently filed a Special Motion to Dismiss Kieckhefer's Complaint on grounds that it was a meritless SLAPP suit and that Kieckhefer's TRO was unconstitutional. The District Court denied the motion, finding the following:

(1) There was clear and convincing evidence that Kieckhefer had a"probability of showing" that the statement regarding his endorsement and support of Harry Reid was false. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 13 at p. 000232.)

(2) Kieckhefer had a "probability of showing" the statement was defamatory because it "could be harmful to the reputation of a Republican politician." (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 13 at p. 000232.)

(3) Kieckhefer had a "probability of establishing damages and/or prevailing on the defamation per se claim." (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 13 at p. 000232.)

(4) Kieckhefer had a "probability of showing that Schmidt's statements were made with knowledge of or reckless disregard for their falsity." (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 13 at p. 000232.)

Schmidt appeals these findings on grounds that: (1) Kieckhefer filed his action to "silence" Schmidt's free speech and electoral activities in the 2014 campaign for Nevada State Senate; and (2) the statements upon which he was sued were believed to be true by Schmidt at the time of publication and were based on an October 31, 2010 article appearing in the *Las Vegas Sun* as well as other research and related information.

#### V. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

#### A. Kieckhefer's Lawsuit and TRO

In the 2014 primary election for Nevada State Senate District 16, Schmidt was a Republican candidate who ran against incumbent Kieckhefer. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 2 at p. 000005.) On June 4, 2014, Schmidt began airing a television advertisement, stating in part that Kieckhefer "endorsed and supported Harry Reid for Senate in 2010." (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 2 at p. 000005, Ex. 9 at p. 000122.)

On June 6, 2014, four days before the election, Kieckhefer filed a Complaint and Ex Parte application for a TRO against Schmidt. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 2; Trial Court Docket.) The Complaint is essentially a SLAPP suit, which along with the TRO, alleged defamation and sought to "restrain and enjoin Mr. Schmidt and any person or entity acting in concert with Mr. Schmidt from publishing any

statement expressing or implying that Senator Kieckhefer has endorsed or supported Harry Reid." (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 2, Ex. 3 at p. 000017.)

Due to little more than an hour's notice from the District Court, Schmidt attended the hearing on the TRO without adequate time to prepare or obtain counsel. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 9 at p. 000123.) The District Court granted the TRO, finding Kieckhefer "likely to suffer irreparable injury to his career and reputation from Defendant's television advertisement in the absence of injunctive relief." (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 14 at p. 000042.)<sup>1</sup>

#### **B.** Background and Basis for the Television Ad

While working as a volunteer on Schmidt's campaign, Peter Hennessey, Ph.D. discovered an October 31, 2010 article published in the *Las Vegas Sun* by staff writer David Schwartz. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 9 at p. 000125.) According to the article, Nevada Republican Senator Bill Raggio endorsed Democratic U.S. Senate Majority Leader Harry Reid in the 2010 U.S. Senate race against Republican Sharron Angle. The article went on to relate that in fact a number of GOP members joined in on the endorsement of Harry Reid. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 4 at pp. 000001, 000002.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In its haste to grant the TRO, the District Court failed to require Kieckhefer to post the necessary bond before entering the Order granting the TRO or Motion to Dismiss SLAPP suit.

Schwartz reported: "Some Republicans who talked to the *Las Vegas Sun* said they support the longtime leader [Harry Reid]. Besides Raggio, the group includes Assemblyman Joe Hardy, R-Boulder City, who's running for State Senate; *Ben Kieckhefer*, a former spokesman for Gov. Jim Gibbons running for a seat in Reno; and Sen. Dean Rhodes, R-Tuscarora, who has publically backed Reid and is not up for re-election." (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 4 at pp. 000001, 000002.)

Following his discovery, Hennessey presented the article to Schmidt. Both men believed the article to state that Kieckhefer endorsed and supported Harry Reid for Senate in 2010. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 9 at pp. 000122, 000125.) Consequently, David Ward, owner of E Media Ad Group, purchased a political campaign advertisement for Schmidt that included said statement. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 9 at p. 000127.) The advertisement began airing on various television stations Wednesday, June 4, 2014. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 9 at p. 000127.)

Members of Kieckhefer's campaign contacted the television stations, insisting Schmidt's statement was false and requesting that they stop airing the advertisement, but contrary to allegations and arguments made by Kieckhefer's counsel, they <u>never</u> contacted Schmidt or the Schmidt campaign. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 9 at pp. 000122, 000127; See Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 10 at p.

000061.) Once this came to his attention, Ward read the Sun's article and concluded the advertisement accurately reflected what was reported in the article. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 9 at p. 000127.) In defense of the advertisement, Ward emailed the Sun's article to the television stations. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 9 at p. 000127.) Each would continue to air Schmidt's advertisement despite Kieckhefer's objection. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 9 at p. 000128.)

#### VI. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Kieckhefer and the District Court posit several "probabilities" that, they believe, refute Schmidt's Special Motion to Dismiss. First, that Kieckhefer could show the television ad stating he "endorsed and supported Harry Reid for Senate in 2010" was false. Second that the statement was defamatory because it could be harmful to Kieckhefer's reputation. Third that Kieckhefer could either establish damages and/or prevail on defamation per se. And fourth, that the statements were made with knowledge or reckless disregard for their falsity.

But the lower court failed to address the overarching theme of the Special Motion to Dismiss, which was also Schmidt's basis for contesting the TRO in the first place. The District Court did not apply strict scrutiny to the obvious Constitutional issue—that the TRO was a prior restraint that chilled free speech. Schmidt's statement was based on an opinion drawn from information found within a reliable source, a news article, and other research. Schmidt and his campaign members believed the statement to be true. There was no knowledge of falsity and there was no malice. Kieckhefer has still presented no conclusive evidence that the statement was not true and failed twice to appear before the court to submit to examination. Judge Polaha stated "a denial by one candidate as to an accusation tossed by another candidate, I don't think carries that much weight because of the give and take of a political campaign". P. 20, lines 13-16 of Anti-SLAPP hearing. The parties were opposing candidates in a political campaign who had every right to exercise speech aimed toward the public interest. Yet, the District Court avoided the Constitutional issue in both of its orders. (Appellant's Appendix, Exs. 13, 14.)

#### VII. ARGUMENT

# A. The TRO Was an Unconstitutional Prior Restraint on Speech Made in the Public Interest.

Prior restraints "on speech and publication are the most serious and least tolerable infringement on First Amendment rights." *Nebraska Press Association v. Stuart*, 427 U.S. 539, 559, 96 S.Ct. 2791, 2803 (1976). This is because "[p]rior restraint upon speech suppresses the precise freedom which the First Amendment sought to protect against abridgment." *Carroll v. President and Commissioners of Princess Anne*, 393 U.S. 175, 181, 89 S.Ct. 347, 351 (1968). Due process requires that "the litigant is afforded 'reasonable notice of and an opportunity to oppose a

restrictive order's issuance." *Johanson v. Eighth Judicial District Court*, 124 Nev. 245, 253, 182 P.3d 94, 99 (2008).

Schmidt was afforded no such notice. Instead he was hauled to court after being given little more than an hour's warning about the Ex Parte hearing. (Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 9 at p. 000123.) This was not enough time to prepare or have counsel appear on his behalf, especially since this occurred during a critical period of his campaign.

A "system of prior restraints 'comes to this Court bearing a heavy presumption against its constitutional validity' . . . subjecting it to a degree of protection so broad that it avoids constitutional infirmity only if it fits within one of a handful of narrowly defined exceptions . . . immunity from prior restraint has been recognized only in exceptional cases, among them to protect the national security, to prevent the publication of obscenity, and to protect against incitement to acts of violence and the overthrow by force of orderly government." Under these circumstances, immunity is afforded only "if it has been accomplished 'under procedural safeguards designed to obviate the dangers of the censorship system."" *Providence Journal Company v. Newton*, 723 F.Supp. 846, 853 (D.R.I. 1989) (citing *Southeastern Promotions, Ltd. v. Conrad*, 420 U.S. 546, 558, 95 S.Ct. 1239, 1246 (1975); additional citations omitted).

A candidate for political office "has a protected right to speak in furtherance of his candidacy." *Spratt v. Toft*, 324 P.3d 707, 712 (Wa 2014) (finding interpreting Washington's anti-SLAPP statute). "Speech involves 'matters of public concern when it can be fairly considered as relating to any matter of political, social, or other concern to the community." *Id.* at 713. The constitutional guarantee of free speech "has its fullest and most urgent application precisely to the conduct of campaigns for political office." Therefore, those engaged in political debate are entitled not only to speak responsibly but to "speak foolishly and without moderation." *Governor Gray Davis Committee v. American Taxpayers Alliance*, 102 Cal.App.4th 449, 458-459, 125 Cal.Rptr.2d 534, 541 (2002).

"Where . . . a candidate speaks out on the issues relevant to the office or the qualifications of the opponent, the speech activity is protected by the First Amendment . . . . 'The right to speak on political matters is the quintessential subject of our constitutional protections of the right of free speech. Public discussion about the qualifications of those who hold or wish to hold positions of public trust presents the strongest possible case for applications of the safeguards afforded by the First Amendment." Elections and qualifications of a candidate for office are public issues. *Macias v. Hartwell*, 55 Cal.App.4th 669, 673-674, 64 Cal.Rptr.2d 222, 225 (1997) (concluding that anti-SLAPP law applies to

defamation actions arising out of statements made in a union election). In the context of anti-SLAPP law, a "public' forum is traditionally defined as a place that is open to the public where information is freely exchanged." *Cabrera v. Alam*, 197 Cal.App. 4th 1077, 1087, 129 Cal.Rptr.3d 74, 81 (2011).

Schmidt was running as a candidate in a political campaign. He had every right to exercise speech aimed toward the public interest, including published information that he and his campaign members learned about an opposing candidate. In an article printed in the *Reno Gazette Journal* on June 4<sup>th</sup>, Schmidt identified the October 31, 2010 *Sun* article which was the principle basis of his allegation. The public and Kieckhefer had notice and could read the October 31 *Las Vegas Sun* article for themselves and draw their own conclusions as did the TV stations airing the subject advertisement. Schmidt and his staff looked for any article or evidence that would refute their conclusions in regards to the *Sun* article and found none.

# **B.** The Speech Was Based On a Reliable Source of Information, Not upon Malice.

"As a public figure in a political campaign, plaintiff cannot prevail in his defamation claims against defendants unless he can also demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that the objectionable statements were made with 'actual malice.'... 'The clear and convincing standard requires that the evidence be such as to command the unhesitating assent of every reasonable mind."" *Rosenauer v. Scherer*, 88 Cal.App.4th 260, 273-274, 105 Cal.Rptr.2d 674, 683-684 (2001).

Kieckhefer had absolutely no evidence of actual malice when seeking the TRO. At no time prior to filing suit did Kieckhefer contact Schmidt or his campaign to inform them that the statement in the television ads were false and ask that he voluntarily retract them and there was no evidence presented to support such an allegation. Schmidt testified under oath that he was never contacted by Kieckhefer or any of his agents in regard to the protective order until notified by the application no more than an hour before the hearing. (See Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 10 at p. 000061.) The court action was a last minute effort to publicize Schmidt as an unsavory character to Republican voters. Kieckhefer filed the suit to "silence" Schmidt's communications aimed at procuring electoral action and a violation of NRS 41.637(1). Whereas, the communication that Kieckhefer "endorsed and supported Harry Reid for Senate in 2010" was made in direct connection with an issue of public interest in a place open to the public or in a public forum. NRS 41.637(4).

*More importantly, Schmidt and members of his campaign believed the communication to be truthful.* Under NRS 41.660(3)(b), Kieckhefer must establish that Schmidt's campaign statement was both false and made with "knowledge of its falsehood." NRS 41.637. Schmidt's television campaign ad

was based substantially on the *Las Vegas Sun's* article which was believed to state that Kieckhefer endorsed and supported Harry Reid for Senate in 2010 as well as other supportive research.<sup>2</sup> Kieckhefer could have issued a statement to the *Sun* clarifying his position on Reid, but did not. Kieckhefer could have contacted Schmidt or a member of his campaign to explain that the statement was not true, which he also did not pursue.

Kieckhefer could have offered some evidence or statement of third party witnesses other than his denial first made in an affidavit before the court late Friday afternoon at the TRO hearing, but he did not. Neither did he do so at the TRO hearing or the hearing before Judge Polaha on the Special Motion to Dismiss brought by Schmidt. Kieckhefer also conveniently failed to appear in person and submit to examination by Schmidt or the court at either hearing.

Statements made during political campaigns about individuals running for public office naturally invite public criticism. *Conroy v. Spitzer*, 70 Cal.App.4th 1446, 1451, 1454, 83 Cal.Rptr.2d 443, 446, 448 (1999). Such statements may be based on reliable sources of information such as newspapers, which is exactly what

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Schmidt's campaign reviewed newspaper articles and other publications including the Nevada Secretary of State website in search of Kieckhefer's support of Sharron Angle and records of his donations to the Angle campaign and found none. Although evidence at the anti-SLAPP motion to dismiss hearing demonstrated he publically supported other Republican candidates and donated to their campaigns. Conspicuously absent was any criticism by Kieckhefer of Reid or prominent Republicans supporting Reid, Raggio, and Cashell. (See Appellant's Appendix, Ex. 10 at p. 000057, lines 11-24 and p. 000058, lines 1-3).

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