Electronically Filed Mar 17 2015 08:50 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVACIER of Supreme Court

GARY SCHMIDT,

Supreme Court Case No. 66528

Appellant,

District Court Case No. CV14-01227

v.

BEN KIECKHEFER,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF MICHAEL PAGNI (#6444) ADAM HOSMER-HENNER (#12779) McDONALD CARANO WILSON LLP

100 West Liberty Street, 10th Floor, P.O. Box 2670, Reno, NV 89505 Telephone: (775) 788-2000; Fax: (775) 788-2020

> <u>mpagni@mcdonaldcarano.com</u> ahosmerhenner@mcdonaldcarano.com

> > Attorneys for Respondent

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This appeal does not present a question of prior restraint, strict scrutiny, or any other type of constitutional issue. Instead, the sole question before this Court is purely procedural. A special motion to dismiss under NRS 41.660 is only proper if the plaintiff cannot demonstrate a probability of prevailing on the claim. Thus, the District Court's denial of Schmidt's Special Motion to Dismiss was correct unless Sen. Kieckhefer's claims were entirely meritless.

Sen. Kieckhefer filed claims for defamation and defamation per se against Schmidt based on a false statement by Schmidt that Sen. Kieckhefer "endorsed and supported Harry Reid for Senate in 2010." (AA, Ex. 9, p. 000127.) Two judges have already independently held that these claims have a probability of succeeding on the merits. Schmidt offers no reason to disturb these holdings but only reiterates his prior generic arguments without interpreting NRS 41.660 or substantively analyzing Nevada's defamation laws.

The constitutional questions with respect to these defamation claims have already been settled. Even statements uttered in the context of a political campaign can constitute defamation so long as they satisfy the actual malice standard. Sen. Kieckhefer has presented evidence that Schmidt acted with reckless disregard for the truth, so there is certainly a probability of prevailing on the defamation claims. Even were this case situated for review on the merits rather than under NRS 41.660, it would not set a negative precedent for elections in Nevada. There is truly a distinctive fact pattern created here because Schmidt publicly stated that he had no idea if his statement was true or false and he offered to pull it if it any evidence was presented to disprove it. This fact alone demonstrates that Schmidt acted with reckless disregard for the truth.

Finally, Schmidt's prior actions completely undermine his arguments about the freedom of speech and demonstrate convincingly that the Special Motion to Dismiss is purely a litigation tactic. After Sen. Kieckhefer filed suit and the District Court entered a temporary restraining order, Schmidt did not immediately appeal nor file a special motion to dismiss. Instead, Schmidt filed mirror-image defamation claims against Sen. Kieckhefer and the day before the primary election, Schmidt sought injunctive relief enjoining Sen. Kieckhefer from running certain political advertisements before the primary election. In fact, Schmidt did not appeal the temporary restraining order until

September 2014, well after it had already expired. The Special Motion to Dismiss belatedly was filed at the end of the permissible statutory period on August 4, 2014, nearly two months after the Complaint. These actions are not consistent with a legitimate concern over the alleged harm done by the defamation claims, but rather with an attempt to benefit from tactical advantages provided by NRS 41.660. By filing the Special Motion to Dismiss and then this interlocutory appeal, Schmidt's goal is merely to stall and delay Sen. Kieckhefer's legitimate lawsuit while simultaneously causing harm to Sen. Kieckhefer's reputation.

Pursuant to NRS 41.660, Sen. Kieckhefer is not required to demonstrate that he will succeed on his defamation claims but only that he has a probability of doing so. As there was clear and convincing evidence supporting Sen. Kieckhefer's probability of prevailing, the District Court's decision was correct and should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court held in *John v. Douglas County School District* that "the district court shall treat the special motion to dismiss as a motion for summary judgment" and therefore this Court "reviews de novo the

district court's order granting the [anti-Strategic Lawsuits Against Public Participation ("anti-SLAPP)"] motion." 125 Nev. 746, 753, 219 P.3d 1276, 1281 (2009). This decision, however, was issued prior to the 2013 amendments to NRS 41.660, which deleted language treating a special motion to dismiss "as a motion for summary judgment." This standard was replaced with a "preponderance of the evidence" standard for determining good faith and a "clear and convincing evidence" standard for determining a "probability of prevailing on the claim." NRS 41.660(3). This Court has not yet had the opportunity to evaluate the proper standard of review for appeals based on this new language.

De novo review is appropriate for the first step of determining "that the claim is based upon a good faith communication in furtherance of the right to petition or the right to free speech in direct connection with an issue of public concern." NRS 41.660(3)(a). Sen. Kieckhefer submits that abuse of discretion review is appropriate for the second step of determining "whether the plaintiff has established by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim." NRS 41.660(3)(b).

At the hearing at the District Court, counsel for Schmidt called Schmidt to the stand and took live testimony under oath. (AA, Ex. 11.)

It seems contrary to this Court's precedent to evaluate that testimony de novo. See Castle v. Simmons, 120 Nev. 98, 103, 86 P.3d 1042, 1046 (2004) (holding that "we will not reweigh the credibility of witnesses on appeal; that duty rests within the trier of fact's sound discretion"). Accordingly, some deference to the decision of the District Court is warranted and an abuse of discretion standard is therefore appropriate with respect to at least the second step of the analysis. See, e.g., Ransdell v. Clark Cnty., 124 Nev. 847, 854, 192 P.3d 756, 761 (2008) ("Issues of sovereign immunity under NRS Chapter 41 present mixed questions of law and fact. We review questions of statutory construction de novo, and we will not disturb the lower court's findings of fact when those findings are supported by substantial evidence.")

As this appeal primarily challenges the District Court's findings with respect to the sufficiency of the evidence for a "probability of prevailing," an abuse of discretion standard is applicable here.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY APPLIED NRS 41.660 BY FINDING THAT SEN. KIECKHEFER HAD A PROBABILITY OF PREVAILING ON THE DEFAMATION CLAIMS.

Nevada has enacted anti-SLAPP legislation, NRS 41.635 et seq., which permits a "defendant to file a special motion to dismiss in

response" to the filing of a SLAPP suit by a plaintiff against that defendant. John, 125 Nev. at 752. A special motion to dismiss (also known as an anti-SLAPP motion) can be granted only after a court makes a determination as to "whether the plaintiff has established by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim." NRS 41.660(3)(b).3 This Court has not yet analyzed this standard. Schmidt does not offer any analysis whatsoever of NRS 41.660. He does not cite to any cases that would assist the Court in interpreting the statute nor offer any opinion as to the meaning of "clear and convincing" or "probability of prevailing." Nevertheless, both Nevada's prior precedent and the interpretation of similar statutes in other states support a conclusion that NRS 41.660(3)(b) was only intended to apply to meritless or frivolous claims.

A. Special Motions To Dismiss Should Only Be Granted In Instances Of Meritless Lawsuits.

This Court has described the target of a special motion to dismiss as "a *meritless* lawsuit that a party initiates primarily to chill a

³ Sen. Kieckhefer asserted two claims for defamation and defamation per se, but the Special Motion to Dismiss fails so long as Sen. Kieckhefer establishes a probability of prevailing on either claim. When a party demonstrates a prima facie case of prevailing on any part of a mixed cause of action, the anti-SLAPP motion fails. *Baral v. Schnitt*, 233 Cal. App. 4th 1423, 183 Cal. Rptr. 3d 615, 625 (2015).

defendant's exercise of his or her First Amendment free speech rights." Stubbs v. Strickland, 129 Nev. Adv. Op. 15, 297 P.3d 326, 329 (2013) (emphasis added); see also John, 125 Nev. at 752 (characterizing a SLAPP lawsuit as a "meritless lawsuit"). In John, the Court described the function of a special motion to dismiss as "for filtering frivolous claims from those having arguable merit." 125 Nev. at 757; see also Foley v. Pont, No. 2:11-CV-01769-ECR, 2012 WL 2503074, at *4 (D. Nev. June 27, 2012) (noting that the Nevada Legislature provided procedural relief "for defendants who face meritless SLAPP suits").

The State of Washington has a nearly identical provision in their anti-SLAPP legislation. RCW 4.24.525(4)(b) ("the burden shifts to the responding party to establish by clear and convincing evidence a probability of prevailing on the claim") Courts in Washington have similar construed anti-SLAPP motions as proper only in cases of a "meritless suit filed primarily to chill a defendant's exercise of First Amendment rights." *City of Seattle v. Egan*, 179 Wash. App. 333, 337, 317 P.3d 568, 569 (2014).

"Nevada's anti-SLAPP statute was enacted in 1993, shortly after California adopted its statute, and both statutes are similar in purpose and language." *John*, 125 Nev. at 752. California's statute provides in

relevant part that a "cause of action . . . shall be subject to a special motion to strike, unless the court determines that the plaintiff has established that there is a probability that the plaintiff will prevail on the claim." Soukup v. Law Offices of Herbert Hafif, 39 Cal. 4th 260, 278, 139 P.3d 30, 41-42 (2006).4 A California court thus "considers the pleadings and evidentiary submissions of both the plaintiff and the defendant [but] does not weigh the credibility or comparative probative strength of competing evidence." Id. (citations omitted). Additionally, the "plaintiff need only establish that his or her claim has minimal merit to avoid being stricken as a SLAPP." *Id.* (citations omitted). The Ninth Circuit described the probability of prevailing standard for an anti-SLAPP motion as a "low burden." Greater Los Angeles Agency on Deafness, Inc. v. Cable News Network, Inc., 742 F.3d 414, 425 (9th Cir. 2014) (interpreting California statute).

Here, the Court did "not find that Sen. Kieckhefer's lawsuit was meritless, frivolous, or vexatious." (AA, Ex. 13, p. 000233.) Schmidt has not presented any reason to disturb this conclusion.

⁴ California's statute does not contain the "clear and convincing" language but as argued below, this language does not substantively affect the requirement of a plaintiff to show any probability at all of prevailing.

B. The Clear And Convincing Standard Does Not Materially Alter Sen. Kieckhefer's Procedural Burden.

While NRS 41.660(3)(b) uses the phrase "clear and convincing" evidence, it is far from clear what this phrase means in context. Clear and convincing is defined typically as "highly probable." *See, e.g., Wynn v. Smith*, 117 Nev. 6, 17, 16 P.3d 424, 431 (2001) (discussing a jury instruction). Substituting this definition though transforms NRS 41.660(3)(b) into a requirement that a plaintiff must establish a "[high probability of] a probability of prevailing on the claim."

While this is a clunky phrase, it fits with the interpretation of NRS 41.660. Thus, the court must be convinced that there is a high probability that a plaintiff has any probability at all of prevailing. Importantly, Nevada did not choose to use the phrase "reasonable probability" or any other modifier to heighten the standard. See Kirksey v. State, 112 Nev. 980, 988, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996) (noting that in the criminal context, a "reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome") (quotations omitted). Requiring a plaintiff to only show a probability of prevailing, no matter how slight, conforms with the judicial interpretation of the anti-SLAPP statutes as applying to only thoroughly meritless claims.

Additionally, this interpretation of "clear and convincing evidence" avoids significant constitutional right issues. Courts in Washington have considered constitutional challenges to the identical provision in that state. Dillon v. Seattle Deposition Reporters, LLC, 179 Wash. App. 41, 89, 316 P.3d 1119, 1142 (2014). In order to prevent the anti-SLAPP statute from infringing upon "the rights of persons to file lawsuits and to trial by jury," the court held that "a summary judgment-like analysis [should] determine whether the plaintiff has shown, by clear and convincing evidence, a probability of prevailing on the merits." Id. Only in this way can constitutional issues be avoided as trial by jury is not mandatory "where no issue of fact was left for submission to, or determination by, the jury." Id. "Thus, in analyzing whether the plaintiff has shown, by clear and convincing evidence, a probability of prevailing on the merits, the trial court may not find facts, but rather must view the facts and all reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the plaintiff." Id. at 89-90.

Although Sen. Kieckhefer did not request trial by jury, the potential constitutional issues with Nevada's statute would still prevent a facial interpretation of NRS 41.660 where the court had to find facts. By comparison, Sen. Kieckhefer filed a motion to dismiss Schmidt's

defamation counterclaims. (RA000067-96.) The District Court found that just "as this Court indicated that Plaintiff had a probability of succeeding on its own defamation and defamation per se claims, Defendant here too has the same likelihood of prevailing." (RA000207.) At such an early stage of litigation, it would be incongruous to permit Schmidt's claims to proceed under the motion to dismiss standard but dismiss Sen. Kieckhefer's claims under NRS 41.660. While NRS 41.660 does require some showing of merit that a N.R.C.P. 12(b)(5) motion does not, it should not be interpreted to prevent meritorious lawsuits from proceeding.

Accordingly, this type of reverse-summary judgment analysis should be applied to the new language in NRS 41.660. This is also the same analysis used by this Court when the statute specifically referenced summary judgment prior to the 2013 amendments. *See John*, 125 Nev. at 752 (finding that a "district court can only grant the special motion to dismiss if there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law"). Consequently, the existence of *any* genuine issue of material fact requires the denial of Schmidt's Special Motion to Dismiss.

C. All Evidence Should Be Construed In Favor Of Sen. Kieckhefer.

In an appeal of the denial of a special motion to dismiss, this Court should "neither weigh credibility [nor] compare the weight of the evidence. Rather, [a court should] accept as true the evidence favorable to the plaintiff . . . and evaluate the defendant's evidence only to determine if it has defeated that submitted by the plaintiff as a matter of law." See Greater Los Angeles Agency on Deafness, Inc., 742 F.3d at 425 (citations omitted). In making a determination as to whether a plaintiff has a probability of prevailing, it is the "court's responsibility to accept as true the evidence favorable to the plaintiff." Soukup, 39 Cal. 4th at 278.

If all of the evidence submitted by Sen. Kieckhefer is accepted as true, as the case-law requires, then Sen. Kieckhefer can state a claim for defamation as a matter of law. Schmidt may dispute the interpretation of some evidence, but cannot truthfully claim that Sen. Kieckhefer has failed to offer evidence in support of his claims. Although the defamation claims are explored in greater depth below, the elements are recapped briefly here with citations to primary, but not exhaustive, factual support. See Pegasus v. Reno Newspapers, Inc.,

- 118 Nev. 706, 718, 57 P.3d 82, 90 (2002) (outlining the elements of defamation).
 - Schmidt's statement was false. (RA000021) (stating that Sen. Kieckhefer has never endorsed Harry Reid).
 - Schmidt's statement was defamatory. (RA000024)(describing the harm to reputation that could result to a Republican politician from an endorsement of Harry Reid).
 - Schmidt's statement was published to third parties. (Br. 7) (citing AA, Ex. 9 at p. 000127) (acknowledging that the advertisement aired on various television stations).
 - Schmidt's statement was made with a reckless disregard for the truth. (RA000031) (stating that Schmidt offered "pull the ad linking Kieckhefer to 'Republicans for Reid' on one condition . . . If he or you comes up with anything where he supported or endorsed or spoke favorably during the campaign and after the primary for Sharron Angle [Senator Reid's Opponent] I'll pull that spot."); see also (AA, Ex. 11, 16:4-9).
 - Sen. Kieckhefer suffered damages. (RA000021) (stating that Sen. Kieckhefer's character, political endorsement decisions,

and conservative credentials would be harmed by Schmidt's advertisements); (RA000024).

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